
“Structuring” Cash Deposits Is a Federal Crime 
 

Federal law makes it a crime to “structure” cash transactions “for the purpose of evading the 
record-keeping or reporting requirements of federal anti-money laundering laws.  These laws are 
in addition to the cash reports that pawnbrokers are required to file against customers from whom 
the pawnbroker receives $10,000 or more in cash at a time or in a series of transactions over a 
12-month period.  Pawnbrokers use IRS Form 8300 for this purpose to inform the IRS, and also 
provide notices to customers whose transactions cross that threshold in January annually.  
 
Only one who acts with a purpose to evade and with knowledge of the reporting requirements 
violates the structuring provision, which is codified at 31 U.S.C. § 5324.  Both prongs must be 
proven for a conviction.  It is not necessary to prove that the accused knew that structuring itself 
was a crime.  
 
This is true both for customers dealing with pawnbrokers and other businesses deemed to be 
“financial institutions” under federal law, and for pawnbrokers and other businesses who receive 
large amount of cash in their business operations.  Your bank, for example, would file a Currency 
Transaction Report (CTR) against you for cash deposits in a manner similar to your filing of an 
IRS 8300 on your customers.  If it suspected you of structuring, it could file a Suspicious Activity 
Report (SAR) on you or your business as well.  
 
In the conduct of your own deposits of cash received in the operation of their businesses, 
pawnbrokers should not (1) cause or attempt to cause a domestic financial institution to fail to file 
a report required by Department of Treasury or Internal Revenue Service regulations, (2) file a 
report that contains a material omission or misstatement of fact, or (3) structure or assist in 
structuring, or attempt to structure or assist in structuring, any transaction with one or more 
domestic financial institutions.  An attempt to evade is part of the overall offense if the requisite 
purpose is present.   
 
The structuring offense is not time-limited, does not depend on the bank’s knowledge, and 
reaches conduct not requiring “aggregation” under Treasury rules because less than $10,000 was 
transferred during one day.  “Structuring is not defined in the statute, but it is defined in 31 C.F.R. 
§103.11(gg) (2005).   
 
The basis criminal penalty for structuring includes imprisonment for not more than five years and 
fines, or both.  There is an “enhanced penalty for aggravated cases” while violating another law of 
the United States or as part of a pattern of illegal activity involving more than $100,000 in a 12-
month period of twice the normal fine and imprisonment for not more than ten years, or both. 
 
Additionally, there is a risk that anyone found to have violated the structuring offense also has 
violated the federal “false statement” act, 18 U.S.C. § 1001, which also carries significant fines 
and potential imprisonment.  
 
The Treasury Department can freeze or seize assets (such as bank accounts) that it believes 
were deposited in violation of the federal anti-structuring law or that are the proceeds of unlawful 
activity.  It can ask a court to issue a warrant for the seizure and, often, the account owner will 
find out about it only after the warrant has issued and the assets frozen or seized.  There is no 
provision for pre-seizure hearings for account owners.  Post-seizure hearings to recover the 
assets are possible, but often lengthy processes. 
 
The NPA recommends that every pawnbroker attend anti-money laundering compliance seminars 
offered annually at PAWN EXPO and also at regional pawnbrokers meetings.  In addition, every 
pawnbroker should be certain that its own behavior in handling cash it receives in the course of 
its business operations complies with all anti-money laundering statutes and regulations.  


